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MEMORANDUM AND ORDER


The Missouri Board of Pharmacy (the Board) filed a complaint on July 23, 1998, seeking this Commission’s determination that the pharmacist license of Sylvan Cohen, R.Ph., is subject to discipline for improperly refilling prescriptions, misappropriating controlled substances, improper recordkeeping, and aiding the unlicensed operation of a pharmacy.  On November 15, 1999, the parties submitted the case on stipulated facts, as section 536.073.3
 and our Regulation 1 CSR 15-2.450(1) allows, and agreed that we may render our final decision on such facts.  The last written argument was due on February 2, 2000.

Findings of Fact

1. Cohen is licensed by the Board as a pharmacist, License No. 27155, and that license is current and active.  In 1988, the Board suspended Cohen’s license to practice as a pharmacist 

for one year, and placed him on probation for five years (the 1988 discipline).  Cohen was required to keep a perpetual controlled substance inventory for each pharmacy where he was the pharmacist-in-charge because of his prior controlled substance diversions.  

2. Americare Pharmaceutical Industries, Inc. (API) owned and operated Americare Pharmacy, 616 C Hwy. 47 North, Warrenton, Missouri, and Americare Pharmacy, #5 Wentzville Center, Wentzville, Missouri.  From April 19, 1993 through August 20, 1995, Cohen was the pharmacist-in-charge of each Americare Pharmacy location.  Cohen was at all times intricately involved in the operation of each Americare location.

3. On April 27, 1993, stock in Americare Pharmaceutical Industries, Inc. (API) transferred from Alta Cohen (Cohen’s ex-wife) to Cohen, and from that date, Cohen was the president, secretary, and sole shareholder of API.  After the transfer of stock, API reapplied for permits for each Americare Pharmacy.  On April 27, 1993, the Board issued new permits to API to operate each pharmacy.  

Refills

4. At one of the Americare Pharmacies, 24 prescriptions were refilled more than one year after the date the prescription was written.  Of those 24 refills, Cohen dispensed the following 15:


Rx Number
Date Written
Date Refilled


243462
5/14/90
8/19/92


247891
9/22/90
9/14/92


251731
1/9/91
7/15/92


256428
5/9/91
7/31/92


256461
3/26/91
6/3/92




9/4/92


256639
5/15/91
6/3/92


257226
12/26/90
9/29/92


258597
7/31/91
9/30/92


258862
7/17/91
10/14/92


261809
10/11/91
1/26/93


262631
11/1/91
11/27/92


262635
11/2/91
11/27/92


263294
11/20/91
12/24/92


263646
12/2/91
3/22/93

In each such instance, Cohen failed to consult with the prescriber or failed to record the results of such consultation in his records.  On September 20, 1994, based on those refills, the Board issued an order finding that Cohen violated the 1988 discipline and extending Cohen’s license on probation for one year (the 1994 discipline).  The Missouri Court of Appeals later voided that order for lack of jurisdiction.  Cohen v. Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy, 967 S.W.2d 243 (Mo. App., W.D. 1998) [Cohen].
  

Impairment

5. After 7 ½ years of recovery, Cohen had a relapse.
  

Misappropriation

6. On July 6, 1995, Cohen received approximately 200 Hydrocodone/Acetaminophen 7.5/750 mg tablets.  Hydrocodone/Acetaminophen is a Schedule III controlled substance.  He received 200 more such tablets on July 19, 1995.  Cohen marked shipping receipts for those tablets as recorded in the pharmacy’s computer and hard-copy records, but he did not record them.  He diverted the tablets for personal use without a valid prescription.  

7. Because Cohen failed to list those tablets, the pharmacy’s controlled substance perpetual inventory report is not accurate.  

8. On August 4, 1995, Dan Smith, an Americare staff pharmacist, confronted Cohen about the loss of controlled substances.  Smith suggested that all employees immediately take a urine test.  All employees agreed to a urine test, but Cohen was not in favor of the tests.  He tried to take a briefcase containing a gun and a bottle of 67 Hydrocodone/APAP 7.5/750 mg tablets from the pharmacy.  Smith and Cohen argued.  Cohen admitted to Smith that he took the missing Hydrocodone/APAP 7.5/750 mg.  Cohen threatened suicide.  Smith would not let Cohen leave the pharmacy, and he physically wrestled with Cohen and disarmed him.  Cohen grabbed a second gun.  Smith wrestled the second gun from Cohen, too. 

9. Cohen returned to an active treatment program at United Behavioral Sciences in St. Louis County.

Recordkeeping 

10. Beginning on August 10, 1995, a controlled substance audit was performed at the Wentzville Americare Pharmacy.  The audit revealed the following errors in dispensing controlled substances and electronic data processing.

Dispensing 

11. Prescription #306495, dated May 27, 1995, for Cohen by Dr. T. McCullough was written for Lorcet 10/650, 20 tablets.  Lorcet is a Class III controlled substance.  Cohen went into the pharmacy after it had closed to get the controlled substance medication.  Cohen took the Lorcet 10/650 from the pharmacy in an unlabeled container and without entering the prescription into the pharmacy’s computer system, and he left the hard copy prescription on the counter for staff pharmacist Randy Powers to process the next day.  Powers signed Prescription #306495, date stamped it 6-1-95, and put a notation on the hard copy prescription, which reads:  “filled in computer only.”

12. Prescription #308172, dated July 21, 1995, was written for patient Anderson by Kevin D. Weikart, M.D., for Tylenol #3 with Codeine, 20 tablets.  Tylenol #3 with Codeine is a Class III controlled substance.  The pharmacy’s hard copy prescription files indicate that prescription #308172 was filled on July 21, 1995, but the dispensing pharmacist did not sign the hard copy prescription.

13. Prescription #295584, dated July 27, 1994, was written for patient Longosch by S. Kulkamthorn, M.D., for Tylenol #3, 10 tablets.  Tylenol #3 is a Class III controlled substance.  The pharmacy’s hard copy prescription files indicate that prescription #295584 was filled on July 27, 1994.  The prescribing physician did not sign the hard copy prescription.  Cohen signed the hard copy prescription as the pharmacist responsible for dispensing the medication.

Electronic Data Processing

14. Prescription #295321, dated July 18, 1994, was written for patient Schulte by D.D. Buenger, D.O.  The patient profile for Schulte in the pharmacy’s computer system indicated #295322 as the prescription number, not #295321 as shown on the hard copy prescription.  A pharmacy technician marked through the number 295321 and hand-wrote the number 295322 on the hard copy prescription.

15. Prescription #295014, dated July 8, 1994, was written for patient Eynck for Doral 15 mg, 30 tablets.  Doral 15 mg is a Class IV controlled substance.  The pharmacy’s computer receipt for prescription #295014 shows the patient’s name as James J. Carnahan.  Cohen stated that when the pharmacy changed to a new computer system, some patients were “stepped on,” i.e., when the information from the old system was entered into the new system, some of the patient’s names were placed on the wrong prescriptions.

16. Prescription #295070, dated July 11, 1994, was written for patient Robinson for Vicodin.  Vicodin is a Class III controlled substance.  The computer label generated for prescription #295070 lists the dosage instructions as “See Original Prescription.”  Cohen stated that when the pharmacy changed computer systems, the abbreviations between the two systems do not always line up and that the notation “see original prescription” appears.

17. Prescription #295035, dated July 8, 1994, was written for patient Vaughn for Phenergan with Codeine, 4 ounces.  Phenergan with Codeine is a Class V controlled substance.  The pharmacy’s computer records indicate that prescription #295035 was filled on July 9, 1994, with 240 cc of Phenergan with Codeine.  240 cc equals 8 ounces of medication, not 4 ounces as was prescribed by the physician.  Cohen’s initials appear on the label as the pharmacist responsible for dispensing the medication.

18. Prescription #295457, dated July 21, 1994, was written for patient Huck by Robert J. Oliver, D.O., for Wygesic, 100 tablets.  Wygesic is a Class IV controlled substance.  Dr. Oliver’s Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) number as printed at the top of the hard copy prescription reads AO6907779.  The pharmacy’s computer records list a DEA number of BO1746669 and list the date written as September 21, 1994.  Cohen signed the hard copy prescription as the pharmacist responsible for dispensing prescription #295457.

19. Prescription #295285, dated July 15, 1994, was written for patient Oshie by a physician at Doctors Hospital-Wentzville, L.P., Wentzville, Missouri, for Tylenol #3, 10 tablets.  Tylenol #3 is a Class III controlled substance.  The physician’s DEA number as printed at the bottom of the hard copy prescription reads AR1727520.  The pharmacy’s computer records list a DEA number of ZM3364596.  Cohen signed the hard copy prescription as the pharmacist responsible for dispensing prescription #295285.

20. Prescription #295194, dated July 14, 1994, was written for patient Schramm by a physician at St. Charles Orthopaedic Surgery Association, Lake St. Louis, Missouri, for Vicodin #25.  Vicodin is a Class III controlled substance.  The physician’s DEA number as printed at the bottom of the hard copy prescription reads AP2613912.  Pharmacy computer records list a DEA number of AP659874.  Cohen signed the hard copy prescription as the pharmacist responsible for dispensing prescription #295194.

21. On October 18, 1995, the Board filed a complaint alleging that Cohen violated the terms of the 1994 probation.  On February 22, 1996, the Board issued an order revoking Cohen’s license to practice pharmacy based on the misappropriation and recordkeeping problems in Findings 11 through 20.  Cohen obtained a stay of the order to pursue an appeal, and the Missouri Court of Appeals later voided the order.  Cohen, 967 S.W.2d 243.

Lapsed Pharmacy Permit

22. On December 15, 1995, Cohen incorporated Cardinal of America, Inc. (Cardinal) with Cohen as the president and secretary. 

23. On May 3, 1996, the Missouri Department of Health, Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (BNDD) notified Cohen that the BNDD proposed to revoke the Missouri controlled substance registration number for the Americare Pharmacy in Wentzville.

24. On October 2, 1996, Barbara Rigdon (Cohen’s daughter) became the president, secretary, and sole shareholder of Cardinal.  Also on October 2, 1996, Cardinal acquired the name of Americare Pharmacy, along with records, customer lists, and remaining pharmaceutical inventory from API.  Cohen remained intricately involved in the operation of each Americare pharmacy after October 2, 1996.  

25. From October 2, 1996 to November 27, 1996, Cohen practiced pharmacy and was the manager at the Americare Pharmacies in Warrenton and Wentzville.  On October 22, 1996, Cardinal filed applications for new permits for each Americare Pharmacy.  On October 31, 1996, the Board requested corporate and shareholder information regarding Cardinal.  As of November 1, 1996, the Board had not granted Cardinal’s applications.  

26. On November 13, 1996, the Board received a response to its request for corporate and shareholder information.  The response stated that Cardinal acquired the name Americare Pharmacy, along with its records and customer lists and remaining pharmaceutical inventory from API.  On November 22, 1996, the Board denied Cardinal’s applications for new permits.  

27. On November 27, 1996, the Circuit Court of St. Charles County issued a temporary restraining order prohibiting Cardinal, Rigdon, Cohen, and their agents, servants, employees and representatives, from any act in furtherance of the operation of a pharmacy.  Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy v. Cardinal of America, Inc., No. CV196-7710CC [Cardinal].  

28. On December 2, 1996, Cohen instructed the Wentzville Americare Pharmacy employees to tell callers that the pharmacy was closed until 3:00 p.m. for inventory and a computer upgrade.  Cohen instructed the Wentzville employees to take orders for prescriptions, but not to fill them until 3:00 p.m.  The employees took orders for and prepared, but did not dispense, two prescriptions by telephone.  

29. On December 2, 1996, a preliminary injunction was issued in Cardinal prohibiting Cardinal, Rigdon, Cohen, and their agents, servants, employees and representatives, from any act in furtherance of the operation of a pharmacy, except that Cohen could practice at a pharmacy with a valid permit. 

30. On December 19, 1996, a consent injunction was issued in Cardinal that made the conditions of the preliminary injunction permanent against Cohen.  

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Board’s complaint.  Section 338.055.2.  The Board has the burden of proving that Cohen has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  Cohen argues that the Cardinal and Cohen cases bar us from concluding that the facts we have found are cause for discipline.  

Cohen cites the doctrines of collateral estoppel and res judicata.  Collateral estoppel prevents a party from re-litigating facts.  King Gen. Contractors v. Reorganized Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, 821 S.W.2d 495, 501 (Mo. banc 1991).  Cohen stipulated to the facts in this case.  Res judicata prevents the re-litigation of a claim already decided on the merits where there is the identity of (1) the thing sued for; (2) the cause of action; (3) the parties; and (4) the quality or capacity of the person for or against whom the claim is made.  Jacobs v. Corley, 732 S.W.2d 910, 913 (Mo. App., E.D. 1987).  The Cohen case was not a decision on the merits.  It was a decision that the Board lacked jurisdiction to discipline Cohen without filing a complaint before this Commission.  Cohen, 967 S.W.2d at 248.  Jurisdiction is a preliminary question of the court's power to act, not a decision on the merits with res judicata effect.  

Parmer v. Bean, 636 S.W.2d 691 (Mo. App., E.D., 1982).  Further, this case lacks identity with the Cardinal case in the thing sued for because the Board did not seek to discipline Cohen’s license in Cardinal.  

The Board cites section 338.055.2, which allows discipline for: 

(1) Use of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 195, RSMo, or alcoholic beverage to an extent that such use impairs a person's ability to perform the work of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter; 

*   *   *

(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter; 

(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter; 

*   *   *

(10) Assisting or enabling any person to practice or offer to practice any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter who is not registered and currently eligible to practice under this chapter; 

*   *   *

(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence; 

*   *   *

(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.] 

(Emphasis added.)  The Board’s Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.090 provides: 

(2) The responsibilities of a pharmacist-in-charge, at a minimum, will include:

*   *   *

(AA) Assure overall compliance with state and federal patient counseling requirements[.]

That regulation makes the pharmacist-in-charge subject to discipline for any violations at the pharmacy.  Tadrus v. Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy, 849 S.W.2d 222, 226-27 (Mo. App. W.D., 1993).  Cohen does not deny that the facts we have found constitute cause for discipline under any of the provisions the Board cites.

Count I – Helping Cardinal Operate Pharmacies Without a Permit


The Board argues that Cohen is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(5), (6), (10), and (13) based on the time that the Americare pharmacies operated without a permit. 

Incompetency and Gross Negligence


The Board argues that Cohen’s assistance to Cardinal in the unauthorized operation of a pharmacy is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(5) for incompetency and gross negligence.  


Incompetency is a general lack of (1) professional ability or (2) disposition to use a professional ability.  Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs v. Duncan, 

No. AR-84-0239 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Nov. 15, 1985) at 115, aff'd, 744 S.W.2d 524.  It includes an indisposition to use an otherwise sufficient ability.  Forbes v. Missouri Real Estate Comm'n, 798 S.W.2d 227, 230 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  Gross negligence is a deviation from the standard of care so egregious as to demonstrate a conscious indifference to a professional duty.  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs, 

744 S.W.2d 524, 533 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  We may infer the requisite mental state from the conduct of the licensee “in light of all surrounding circumstances.”  Id.   


We agree with the Board that Cohen’s assistance to Cardinal demonstrated a general lack of disposition to use, and a conscious indifference to, Cohen’s professional duty to abide by Missouri pharmacy licensing laws.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s assistance to Cardinal in the unauthorized operation of a pharmacy is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(5) as incompetence and gross negligence.  

Enabling a Violation of Statute


The Board argues that Cohen’s assistance to Cardinal in the unauthorized operation of a pharmacy as set forth at Findings 24 and 25 is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6) for enabling Cardinal to violate a provision of Chapter 338, RSMo.  


Cohen continued the practice of pharmacy at the Americare pharmacies and did not cease the pharmacies’ operations while they had no permit to operate.  Cardinal was allowed to operate the pharmacies, even without a permit, under the Board’s Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.020(3):

When a pharmacy changes ownership, the original permit becomes void on the effective date of the change of ownership. Before any new business entity resulting from the change opens a pharmacy for business, it must obtain a new permit from the board. However, a grace period of thirty (30) days will be allowed after the change of ownership.  

Because Cardinal acquired the Americare pharmacies on October 2, 1996, its grace period lasted until November 1, 1996.  Cardinal’s operation of the Americare pharmacies between November 1 and 27, 1996, without a permit was a violation of law.  

The Board argues that such conduct enabled Cardinal to violate section 338.220.1, RSMo 1994, which provides:

1.  It shall be unlawful for any person, copartnership, association or corporation to open, establish, operate or maintain any pharmacy, as defined by statute without first obtaining a permit or license to do so from the Missouri board of pharmacy.  

We agree.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s assistance to Cardinal in the unauthorized operation of a pharmacy is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6) as a violation of section 338.220.1, RSMo 1994.  

Assisting the Unauthorized Operation of a Pharmacy

The Board argues that Cohen’s assistance to Cardinal in the unauthorized operation of a pharmacy is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(10). 

The Board cites Cohen’s instructions to Cardinal employees on December 2, 1996, while the temporary restraining order was in effect, as set forth at Findings 27 and 28.  Section 338.010.1, RSMo 1994, provides:

The “practice of pharmacy” shall mean the interpretation and evaluation of prescription orders; . . . the participation in drug selection according to state law and participation in drug utilization reviews; the proper and safe storage of drugs and devices and the maintenance of proper records thereof . . . ; and the offering or performing of those acts, services, operations, or transactions necessary in the conduct, operation, management and control of a pharmacy. . . . 

(Emphasis added.)  We agree that instructing pharmacy personnel to accept and prepare telephone prescriptions assisted and enabled Cardinal to operate an unauthorized pharmacy.  

Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s assistance to Cardinal in the unauthorized operation of a pharmacy is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(10) as assisting or enabling Cardinal to practice or offer to practice pharmacy while not registered and currently eligible to practice.  

Violation of Professional Trust


The Board argues that Cohen’s assistance to Cardinal in the unauthorized operation of a pharmacy is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(13) as a violation of professional trust. Reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences creates a professional trust.  Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).  We agree that customers, employees, and professionals expect a pharmacy to operate under some lawful authority.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s assistance to Cardinal in the unauthorized operation of a pharmacy is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(13) as a violation of professional trust.

Count II – Misappropriation


The Board argues that Cohen is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(1), (5), (13), and (15) for his misappropriation of controlled substances as set forth at Finding 6.  

Impairment


The Board argues that Cohen’s misappropriation of controlled substances is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(1).  The Board argues that Cohen’s misappropriations led to recordkeeping errors and “clouded his judgment as to appropriate actions as a pharmacist,”
 by which we assume the Board means Cohen’s carrying of concealed weapons and his altercation with Smith at Finding 8.  We infer that such acts were the result of impairment from consuming the medications he misappropriated.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s impairment from using the controlled substances that he misappropriated is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(1).  

Misconduct, Gross Negligence, Dishonesty


The Board argues that Cohen’s misappropriation of controlled substances is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(5) for “intentional wrongdoing, a conscious indifference to a professional duty, and a lack of integrity.”
  Those charges relate to misconduct, gross negligence and dishonesty, respectively.  


Misconduct means “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”  Missouri Bd. for Arch'ts, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surv'rs v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm'n Nov. 15, 1985) at 125, aff'd, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s misappropriation of controlled substances is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(5) as misconduct.


Gross negligence is a deviation from the standard of care so egregious as to demonstrate a conscious indifference to a professional duty.  Duncan, 744 S.W.2d at 533.  We have found that Cohen acted intentionally.  Intent and indifference are mutually exclusive.   Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s misappropriation of controlled substances is not cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(5) as gross negligence.  


Dishonesty is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 333 (10th ed. 1993).  We agree that Cohen’s diversion of controlled substances shows a lack of integrity.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s misappropriation of controlled substances is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(5) for dishonesty.  

Violation of Professional Trust


The Board argues that that Cohen’s misappropriation of controlled substances is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(13).  We agree that diverting controlled substances is a violation of the professional trust that Cardinal and his co-workers placed in him.  Therefore, we conclude that that Cohen’s misappropriation of controlled substances is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(13).  

Violation of Drug Laws


The Board argues that that Cohen’s misappropriation of controlled substances is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(15).  


The Board cites the following provisions, which require a prescription to dispense controlled substances.  Section 195.060.1 provides:  


Except as provided [for emergency oral prescriptions by an authorized practitioner], a pharmacist, in good faith, may sell and dispense controlled substances to any person only upon a prescription of a practitioner as authorized by statute[;] 

(Emphasis added.)  21 U.S.C. section 353(b)(1) (1996) provided:

(b) Prescription by Physician; exemption from labeling and prescription requirements; misbranded drugs; compliance with narcotic and drug laws

(1) A drug intended for use by man which –


(A) is a habit-forming drug to which section 352(d) of this title applies; or 


(B) because of its toxicity or other potentiality for harmful effect, or the method of its use, or the collateral measures necessary to its use, is not safe for use except under the supervision of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug; or


(C) is limited by an approved application under section 355 of this title to use under the professional supervision of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug;

shall be dispensed only (i) upon a written prescription of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug, or (ii) upon an oral prescription of such practitioner which is reduced promptly to writing and filed by the pharmacist, or (iii) by refilling any such written or oral prescription if such refilling is authorized by the prescriber either in the original prescription or by oral order which is reduced promptly to writing and filed by the pharmacist.  The act of dispensing a drug contrary to the provisions of this paragraph shall be deemed to be an act which results in the drug being misbranded while held for sale.


(Emphasis added.)  21 U.S.C. section 829(b) provides:  

(b) Except when dispensed directly by a practitioner, other than a
pharmacist, to an ultimate user, no controlled substance in
schedule III or IV, which is a prescription drug as determined
under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. 301 et
seq.), may be dispensed without a written or oral prescription in
conformity with section 503(b) of that Act (21 U.S.C. 353(b)). Such prescriptions may not be filled or refilled more than six months after the date thereof or be refilled more than five times after the date of the prescription unless renewed by the practitioner.


(Emphasis added.)  21 C.F.R. 1306.21(a) provides:


A pharmacist may dispense directly a controlled substance listed in Schedule III, IV, or V which is a prescription drug as determined under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, only pursuant to either a written prescription signed by a practitioner . . . or pursuant to an oral prescription made by an individual practitioner and promptly reduced to writing by the pharmacist containing all information required in Sec. 1306.05, except for the signature of the prescribing individual practitioner.

(Emphasis added.)  


The Board also cites the following provisions, which outlaw the unauthorized possession of controlled substances.  Section 195.202.1, RSMo 1994, provides:  


Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawful for any person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance. 

(Emphasis added.)  21 U.S.C. section 844(a)
 provides:  

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to
possess a controlled substance unless such substance was obtained
directly, or pursuant to a valid prescription or order, from a
practitioner, while acting in the course of his professional
practice, or except as otherwise authorized by this subchapter or
subchapter II of this chapter. . . .

(Emphasis added.)


We agree that Cohen violated those provisions.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s misappropriation of controlled substances is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(15).  

Count III – Recordkeeping


The Board argues that the recordkeeping errors at Findings 11 through 20 are cause to discipline Cohen under section 338.055.2(6), (13), and (15).  

Violation of Statutes or Regulations


The Board argues that the recordkeeping errors are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6), either because he dispensed them without the required documentation or because he was pharmacist-in-charge when the errors occurred.    


The Board argues that Cohen’s dispensing of Prescription #306495
 violated the following provisions, which require any prescription dispensed to bear a label with certain identifying information on each prescription.  Section 195.100.1 provides:  


It shall be unlawful to distribute any controlled substance in a commercial container unless such container bears a label containing an identifying symbol for such substance in accordance with federal laws. 

(Emphasis added.)  Section 338.059.1
 provides:  


It shall be the duty of a licensed pharmacist or a physician to affix or have affixed by someone under the pharmacist’s or physician's supervision a label to each and every container provided to a consumer in which is placed any prescription drug upon which is typed or written the following information: 

(1) The date the prescription is filled; 

(2) The sequential number; 

(3) The patient’s name; 

(4) The prescriber’s directions for usage; 

(5) The prescriber’s name; 

(6) The name and address of the pharmacy; 

(7) The exact name and dosage of the drug dispensed; 

(8) There may be one line under the information provided in subdivisions (1) to (7) of this subsection stating “Refill” with a blank line or squares following or the words “No Refill”; 

(9) When a generic substitution is dispensed, the name of the manufacturer or an abbreviation thereof shall appear on the label or in the pharmacist's records as required in section 338.100. 

(Emphasis added.)  The Board cites United States Regulation 21 C.F.R. 1306.24(a), which 

provides: 


The pharmacist filling a prescription for a controlled substance listed in Schedule III, IV, or V shall affix to the package a label showing the pharmacy name and address, the serial number and date of initial filling, the name of the patient, the name of the practitioner issuing the prescription, and directions for use and cautionary statements, if any, contained in such prescription as required by law.


(Emphasis added.)  The Board also argues that Cohen violated the following provisions, which require the dispensing pharmacist to write the date, signature, and name or initials of the dispensing pharmacist on the prescription.  Section 195.060.1 provides:

The person filling the prescription shall write the date of filling and his own signature on the prescription. . . . .

(Emphasis added.)  The Board’s Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.018 (1) provides:  

(1) In order for a prescription to be valid for purposes of dispensing a medication by a pharmacy, it must conform to all requirements as outlined in sections 338.056 or 338.196, RSMo, and contain the following information:

*   *   *

 
(G) The initials or name of the pharmacist responsible for processes in dispensing or compounding of the prescription[.]

We agree that Cohen violated those provisions.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s violations of those provisions with regard to Prescription #306495 are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6).  


The Board argues that Cohen’s dispensing of Prescription #308172 violated section 195.060.1 because he did not sign the prescription as dispensing pharmacist.  We agree that Cohen is subject to discipline for that violation as pharmacist-in-charge.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s dispensing of Prescription #308172 without signing as the dispensing pharmacist is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6).  


The Board argues that Cohen’s dispensing of Prescription #295584, which lacked a prescribing physician’s signature, violated the following provision of section 195.060.1:

All written prescriptions shall be signed by the person prescribing the same[,] 

and Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.018(1)(C), which requires any prescription dispensed to bear:


(C) The prescriber’s name, if an oral prescription, signature if a written prescription[.]

We agree.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s dispensing of Prescription #295584 without a prescribing physician’s signature is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6).  


The Board argues that the lack of an original prescription number in the pharmacy’s electronic database for Prescription #295321 violated Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.080(2).  Subsection (A) of that provision required the database to include the:

(A) Original prescription number[.]

We agree that Cohen is subject to discipline for that violation as pharmacist-in-charge.  Therefore, we conclude that the lack of an original prescription number in the pharmacy’s electronic database for Prescription #295321 is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6).  


The Board argues that the lack of the correct patient’s name in the pharmacy’s electronic database for Prescription #295014 violated Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.080(2).  Subsection (D) of that provision required the database to include the:


(D) Patient’s full name[.]

We agree that Cohen is subject to discipline for that violation as pharmacist-in-charge.  Therefore, we conclude that the lack of the correct patient’s name in the database for Prescription #295014 is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6).  


The Board argues that Cohen either did not dispense the correct quantity for Prescription #295035 or the pharmacy violated Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.080(2).  Subsection (I) of that provision requires the electronic database to include the: 


(I) Quantity of drug, medicine or poison originally dispensed[.]

The stipulated facts show that the prescription was correctly recorded at 4 oz. of Phenergan with Codeine, and that the pharmacy recorded the amount dispensed as 8 oz. of Phenergan with Codeine.  Those facts do not establish whether the error was in the quantity recorded or the quantity dispensed.  Because the Board does not cite the provision of law authorizing discipline for dispensing the wrong quantity, we cannot make any conclusion on that charge.  Duncan, 

744 S.W.2d 524, 538-39.  Therefore, the stipulated facts do not show that Cohen is subject to discipline for dispensing Prescription #295035.  


The Board argues that the absence of the correct date that the prescription was written and the prescribing physician’s correct DEA number from the pharmacy’s electronic database for Prescription #295457 is a violation of Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.080(2).  Subsections (B) and (G) of that provision require the database to include:


(B) Date of original prescription, expiration date of the prescription or both; 

*   *   *


(G) Prescriber's address and Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) number when a prescription specifies a controlled substance[.]

We agree that Cohen is subject to discipline for those violations as pharmacist-in-charge.  Therefore, we conclude that the absence of the correct date that the prescription was written and the prescribing physician’s correct DEA number from the pharmacy’s electronic database for Prescription #295457 is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6).  


The Board argues that the absence of the prescribing physician’s correct DEA number from the pharmacy’s electronic database for Prescription #295285 is a violation of Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.080(2). We agree that Cohen is subject to discipline for violating subsection (G) of that provision as pharmacist-in-charge.  Therefore, we conclude that the absence of the prescribing physician’s correct DEA number from the pharmacy’s electronic database for Prescription #295285 is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6).  


The Board argues that the absence of the prescribing physician’s correct DEA number from the pharmacy’s electronic database for Prescription #295194 is a violation of Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.080(2). We agree that Cohen is subject to discipline for violating subsection (G) of that provision as pharmacist-in-charge.  Therefore, we conclude that the absence of the prescribing physician’s correct DEA number from the pharmacy’s electronic database for Prescription #295194 is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6).  

Violation of Professional Trust


The Board argues that the recordkeeping errors are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(13) as a violation of professional trust.  We agree.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s and the pharmacy’s recordkeeping errors are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(13). 

Violation of Drug Laws


The Board argues that the recordkeeping errors are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(15) as violations of state and federal drug laws.  The Board cites sections 195.060.1, 

195.100.1, and 338.059.1; Board Regulations 4 CSR 220-2.018 and 4 CSR 220-2.080(2); and federal Regulation 21 C.F.R. 1306.24.  We have found that Cohen is subject to discipline for violations of those provisions.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen is subject to discipline for his and pharmacy’s recordkeeping errors under section 338.055.2(15) as violations of state and federal drug laws.

Count IV – Refills


The Board argues that Cohen’s 15 refills at Finding 4 (the refills) are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(5), (6), (13), and (15).  

Gross Negligence and Incompetence


The Board argues that the refills are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(5) as gross negligence and incompetence.  The Board argues that Cohen violated the professional standard set forth at the Board’s Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.110:

(1) A pharmacist shall not fill or refill any prescription which was written more than one (1) year before being presented to the pharmacist, unless the pharmacist consults with the prescriber and confirms – 


(A) That the person for whom the drugs or medicines were prescribed is still under the prescriber's care or treatment;


(B) That the prescriber desires for the person to continue receiving the drugs or medicines; or


(C) If the prescriber answers negatively in either case listed in subsection (1)(A) or (B), the pharmacist shall not fill or refill the prescription, even if the prescription authorizes refills as needed (PRN).

*   *   *

(3) After the pharmacist has confirmed the information required in sections (1) and (2) of this rule, s/he shall record it in his/her records in a uniform fashion so as to make it readily available for verification by the board or its authorized agents.

Cohen stipulated that he violated either subsection (1) or subsection (2) of Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.110 in every refill.  Therefore, whichever subsection he violated, the stipulated facts require a decision in the Board’s favor.  We agree with the Board that Cohen’s repeated violations of that provision show a conscious indifference to the professional standard it sets forth, and an indisposition to use his professional ability to make sure that refills are current.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s failure to follow of Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.110 when dispensing the refills is cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(5).

Violating a Regulation Under Chapter 338


The Board argues that Cohen’s violations of Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.110 are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(6).  Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.110 is a rule adopted pursuant to Chapter 338.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s violations of Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.110 are cause to discipline Cohen under section 338.055.2(6).  

Violation of Professional Trust


The Board argues that Cohen’s refills are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(13) as violations of professional trust.  We agree that the professionals who write prescriptions trust Cohen to refill them only within the regulatory standards.  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s refills are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(13) as violations of professional trust.

Violation of State Drug Regulation


The Board argues that Cohen’s refills are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(15) as a violation of a state drug regulation.  We agree that with every refill, Cohen 

violated either Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.110(1) or (3).  Therefore, we conclude that Cohen’s violations of Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.110(1) or (3) are cause for discipline under section 338.055.2(15) as a violation of a state drug regulation.  

Summary

Count I – Lapsed Pharmacy Permit


We conclude that Cohen is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(5), (6), (10), 

and (13).

Count II – Misappropriation


We conclude that Cohen is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(1), (5), (13), 

and (15).  

Count III – Recordkeeping


We conclude that Cohen is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(6), (13), and (15) for his and the pharmacy’s recordkeeping errors on Prescriptions #306495, #308172, #295584, #295321, #295014, #295457, #295285, and #295194, but not as to #295035. 

Count IV – Refills


We conclude that Cohen is subject to discipline under section 338.055.2(5), (6), (13), 

and (15).


SO ORDERED on March 22, 2000.



________________________________



SHARON M. BUSCH



Commissioner

�Statutory references are to the 1999 Supplement to the Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  


�The parties stipulated to this finding without “Rx Number” or “Date Written.”  





�We must take official notice of that decision.  Missouri Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Trinity Lutheran Hosp., 930 S.W.2d 426, 429 (Mo. App., W.D. 1996).





�The stipulated facts do not specify the condition from which Cohen was recovering and into which he relapsed.  In the Cohen case, the court describes a relapse of chemical dependency.  967 S.W.2d at 244.  We infer that his chemical dependency was related to the diversion of controlled substances referred to in Finding 1.


�Pet’r Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, at 26.





�Id.


�The complaint cites the statute as 21 U.S.C. section 884, but quotes the language of 21 U.S.C. section 844.





�The Board refers to this as Prescription #295070, but the undisputed facts apply to Prescription #306495.


  


�The Board cites this statute as section 388.059.1, but quotes the language of section 338.059.1.
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